S232607

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

JUL 2 8 2016

HECTOR ALVARADO

Plaintiff, Appellant and Petitioner

Frank A. McGche Clerk

VS.

DART CONTAINER CORPORATION OF CALIFORNIA

Defendant and Respondent

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. E061645

APPEAL From the Superior Court of Riverside County. Hon. Daniel A. Ottolia. (Super. Ct. No. RIC1211707)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

(Service on Attorney General and District Attorney required by Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17209, 17536.5)

LAVI & EBRAHIMIAN

Joseph Lavi
(SBN 209776; jlavi@lelawfirm.com)
Jordan D. Bello
(SBN 243190; jbello@lelawfirm.com)

I.	ISSUES PRESENTED
II.	INTRODUCTION
III.	STATEMENT OF CASE AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW 4
1.	FACTS4
2.	PROCEEDINGS IN THE TRIAL COURT9
3.	PROCEEDINGS ON APPEAL
IV.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT11
V.	ARGUMENT13
1.	THE REQUIREMENTS OF CALIFORNIA OVERTIME LAW13
2. 7	THE PROPER MEANS FOR CALCULATING OVERTIME UNDER
	CALIFORNIA LAW IN THE CONTEXT OF FIXED WAGE PAYMENTS IS
	GROUNDED IN NEARLY SIXTY YEARS OF AUTHORITY16
	A. The Attorney General Advised The IWC In 1957 That The Federal
	"Fluctuating Workweek" is Antithetical to "Regular Rate" Analysis Under
	California Law17
	B. The Court of Appeal's Decision Herein Conflicts With "Findings" of the
	IWC Explaining Its Overtime Regulations20
	C. Precedent that Predates Alvarado v. Dart Has Consistently And Properly
	Rejected "Fluctuating Workweek" Methodologies20
3. 1	THE UNCANNY SIMILARITIES BETWEEN A FIXED "SALARY" AND
	FIXED "BONUS" COMPELS APPLICATION OF SKYLINE31
4. T	THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THE DLSE'S
	VALID INTERPRETATION OF HOW OVERTIME SHOULD BE

	CALCULATED, AN INTERPRETATION THAT ALIGNS WITH
	STATUTORY AND APPELLATE AUTHORITY EXPRESSLY
	REFERENCED IN THE DLSE MANUAL
5.	FEDERAL REGULATIONS DO NOT SUPPORT THE OVERTIME PLAN
	ADOPTED BY DART37
6.	THE COURT OF APPEAL DECISION INVITES MISCHIEF THAT WOULD
	WIPE OUT THE PROTECTIONS OF CALIFORNIA OVERTIME LAW40
VI.	CONCLUSION42

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Ca	se	S

Aguilar, supra, 234 Cal.App.3d at p. 28
Alcala v. Western Ag Enterprises (1986) 182 Cal. App.3d 54625, 26
Busse v. United PanAm Finance Corp. 22 CA 4th 1028, 1038
California Manufacturers Assn. v. Industrial Welfare Com. (1980) 109
Cal. App.3d 95, 11124
Ghory v. Al-Lahham, supra, 299 Cal. App.3d at p. 1491 26
Hernandez v. Mendoza (1988) 199 CA 3d 721,72616, 25
Huntington Memorial v. Superior Court (2007) 131 Cal.app.4th 893 30
In re W.B. Jr. (2012) 55 Cal. 4th 30, 57
Industrial Welfare Com. v. Superior Court (1980) 27 Cal.3d 69011, 22, 37
Lujan v. Southern California Gas Co. (2002) 96 CA 4th 1200, 120416, 26
Marin v. Costco Wholesale Corp. (200) 169 CA 4 th 8042, 27, 28
Morillion v. Royal Packing Co. (2000) 22 Cal. 4th 575, 581
Ramirez v. Yosemite Water (1999) 20 Cal. 4 th 785,794
Ramirez v. Yosemite Water (1999) 20 Cal.4th 78510-12, 26
Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. v. Bradshaw (1996) 14 Cal. 4th 5572, 21, 27
Skyline Homes v. Department of Industrial Relations (1985) 165 Cal. App.3d
239 passim
<u>Statutes</u>
29 USC 207(e)(5)40

Business and Professions Code section 17200 et seq	
Labor Code sections 202 and 203	
Labor Code section 226	
Labor Code section 2698 et seq	
Other Authorities	
29 Ops. Attorney General, Opinion No. 57-29, pg. 168-172	
Private Attorneys' General Act of 2004	
Wage Order No. 1	
Regulations	
29 CFR 778.203	
29 CFR 778.502	
29 CFR 788.209 (a)	

I. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

The issues presented are:

- 1. Under California law, how must an employer calculate the "regular rate" for the purpose of determining overtime pay when a weekly wage has an hourly wage component and fixed amount component that is payable irrespective of whether or not overtime hours are worked?
- 2. Can an employer, under California law, divide a flat sum component of a weekly wage by total hours worked each week (apply "fluctuating workweek" methodology) to arrive at the "regular rate" for purposes of calculating overtime, where the number of hours varies from week to week, causing the overtime rate to decrease each week that the amount of overtime work increases?
- 3. Does California law require an employer to divide a flat sum component of a weekly wage by the maximum number of non-overtime hours for the week (e.g. 40 hours) in determining the "regular rate" to be utilized in calculating overtime?
- 4. If California law is indeed silent on how to calculate overtime when flat sums called "bonuses are paid as part of a weekly wage, was the Court of Appeal's application of 29 CFR 788.209 (a) wrong, given the provisions of 29 CFR 778.502 and 29 CFR 778.203.

(Issues 2-4 are subsumed in Issue 1)

II. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal issued a decision that, if not reversed, threatens to sweep away, in one stroke, years of firmly-established California case law that distinguishes the Federal means from the California means of calculating overtime when an employee's wages include a fixed dollar amount that is paid irrespective of whether and how much overtime is worked. Reversal is imperative to protect decades of substantive overtime rights from erosion through pay schemes that reduce, with each additional minute of overtime worked, the hourly rate upon which overtime must be calculated.

The Court of Appeal reached its unprecedented holding without grappling with the fact that it is adopting the fluctuating work week approach to a flat amount component of a weekly wage (a "salary" in fact if not in name), in the face of close to 60 years of authority rejecting that approach. Beginning with an AG's Opinion provided to the Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC") in 1957, continuing with the IWC's rejection of the "fluctuating workweek approach in "Findings" in 1963, California has rejected overtime calculation methods that benefit employers. Case law that followed similarly rejected application of "fluctuating workweek", beginning with *Skyline Homes v. Department of Industrial Relations* (1985) 165 Cal.App.3d 239 ("*Skyline*"), disapproved on other grounds *Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. v. Bradshaw* (1996) 14 Cal. 4th 557, and

culminating in *Marin v. Costco Wholesale Corp.* (2008) 169 CA 4th 804, 817-818 that, in its analysis of "regular rate" applied *Skyline* to a fixed payment "bonus" in a context where employees, as in this case, also earned hourly wages.

The Court of Appeal in this case rejected *Skyline*, *supra*, not by confronting and disagreeing with its holding and rationale, but rather, by claiming *Skyline* is inapplicable because a fixed amount of wages characterized as a "bonus" paid week in and week out for weekend work is different than a fixed amount of wages characterized as a "salary" paid week in and week out, for the purpose of "regular rate" application. (Slip Opinion 13-15)

In taking this approach, the Court of Appeal ignored California authority, putting blinders on to the fact that, for overtime calculation purposes, the flat amount "bonus" in this case is, as a matter of substance, no different than flat amount salaries in California cases that have rejected the "fluctuating workweek" approach to calculation of overtime.

The issues presented by this case, centering on how to calculate the "regular rate" are of vital importance to the welfare of California's workers and to the proper administration and enforcement of California's overtime laws. In the decision below, the Court of Appeal sanctions an employer practice of calculating overtime pay that is extremely detrimental to workers, that has consistently been declared illegal by every other Court of

Appeal decision that has had occasion to consider it. Absent rejection of the Court of Appeal approach, California employers will be licensed to adopt pay schemes that emphasize "fixed bonuses" and limit hourly wages, and, thereby, through subterfuge, avoid payments of overtime premiums contemplated by the law.

III. STATEMENT OF CASE AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

1. FACTS

Dart Container corporation of California ("Dart") is a producer of food service products, including cups and plates. Appellant Alvarado is one member of a putative class of hourly paid Dart employees who, in addition to receiving hourly pay, receive a fixed amount of pay every pay period they perform weekend work, at the flat rate of \$15 per weekend day, which works out to a maximum fixed amount of \$60 for four weekend days in a two week pay period. The bonus for Saturday and Sunday work is, irrespective of the number of hours worked during a week or pay period, \$15 per day. (Appx. 68-70).

Mr. Alvarado began working for Dart in September 2010 as a warehouse associate. His employment ended in January 2012. (Slip Op. 2)

Dart characterized the fixed payment element of wages as an "attendance bonus" paid to any employee who is scheduled to work a weekend shift and completes the shift. (Slip Op. 2). The payment plan does not differentiate between days or weeks that would trigger overtime

obligations, and those that would not. It necessarily results in different amounts per overtime hour each pay period depending on the number of overtime hours worked in the pay period. (Appx.68-70).

Dart calculates the amount of overtime paid during a pay period as follows:

- 1. Multiply the number of overtime hours worked in a pay period by the straight hourly rate (straight hourly pay for overtime hours).
- 2. Add the total amount owed in a pay period for (a) regular non-overtime work, (b) for extra pay such as attendance bonuses, and (c) overtime due from the first step. That total amount is divided by the total hours worked during the pay period. This amount is the employee's "regular rate."
- 3. Multiply the number of overtime hours worked in a pay period by the employee's regular rate, which is determined in step 2. This amount is then divided in half to obtain the "overtime premium" amount, which is multiplied by the total number of overtime hours worked in the pay period (overtime premium pay).
- 4. Add the amount from step 1 to the amount in step 3 (total overtime pay). This overtime pay is added to the employee's regular hourly pay and the attendance bonus. (Slip Op. 2-3, Appx. 68-70)

During Appellant's employment, he worked varying amounts of hours each pay period, and, at times, Saturdays and Sundays during weeks he worked overtime and sometimes double time. He was paid overtime pay pursuant to Dart's policy. (Slip Op. 3; Appx. 116-126)

The Dart formula, by dividing the combined fixed wages and the hourly wages by a varying number of hours from pay period to pay period, operates in a manner consistent with the fluctuating work week methodology rejected by the watershed case of *Skyline*, *supra* 165 Cal.App.3d 239 ("*Skyline*").

Illustrative, is application of the Dart formula to a hypothetical employee working 16 hours of overtime one pay period and 32 the next pay period.

Assume the hypothetical employee works pay periods that last two weeks at Dart and, during one two week period, he works 80 regular hours, and 16 overtime hours, and during the next pay period he works 80 regular hours, and 32 overtime hours. His hourly rate is \$15.22 per hour. During each of the pay periods, the hypothetical employee works four weekend days.

Application of Dart's overtime calculation methodology when 16 hours of overtime are worked:

Step 1. 16 hours of OT x 15.22 (straight time rate) = 243.52

Step 2. (a) 80 hours of non-overtime x \$15.22= \$1,217.60 plus (b) \$60.00 fixed amount for working on two Saturday and two Sunday plus (c) \$243.52 from step 1 = \$1,521.12. Dividing total by 96 hours =\$15.845 per

hour-"regular rate" under the Dart formula.

Step 3. 16 OT hours x \$15.845 = \$253.52 divided by 2 to get "overtime premium amount" = \$126.76

Step 4. Adding step 1 to step 3 equals \$370.28 in overtime pay under Dart's formula.

As a mathematical certainty, under Dart's formula, the more overtime hours worked, the less is paid per overtime hour. The regular rate decreases as the number of overtime hours increases.

Application of Dart's overtime calculation methodology when 32 hours of overtime are worked:

Step 1. 32 hours of OT (instead of 16) x \$15.22= \$487.04

Step 2. (a) 80 hours of non-overtime x \$15.22= \$1,217.60 plus (b) \$60.00 fixed amount for working on two Saturday and two Sunday plus (c) \$487.04 from step 1 = \$1,764.64. Dividing total by 112 hours=\$15.755 per hour-"regular rate" under the Dart formula, 9 cents per hour less than the regular rate when the same employee worked 16 instead of 32 hours of overtime during the pay period.

Step 3. 32 OT hours x \$15.755= \$504.16 divided by 2 to get "overtime premium amount" = \$252.08

Step 4. Adding Step 1 to step 3 equals \$739.04 in overtime pay under Dart's formula.

As demonstrated above, the amount paid per overtime hour decreases, as the amount of overtime hours increases when Dart's formula is applied.

Appellant contends that, given *Skyline*'s rejection of the "fluctuating workweek" formula, and adoption of a calculation method that divides fixed wages by regular hours only, not overtime hours, the method of calculation set forth in the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement ("DLSE") Enforcement Manual should apply here. It provides:

"If the bonus is a flat sum, such as \$300 for continuing to the end of the season, or \$5.00 for each day worked, the regular bonus rate is determined by dividing the bonus by the maximum legal regular hours worked during the period to which the bonus applies. [two week 80 regular hour pay period at Dart]. This is so because the bonus is not designed to be an incentive for increased production for each hour of work; but, instead is designed to insure that the employee remain in the employ of the employer.

To allow this bonus to be calculated by dividing by the total (instead of the straight time hours) would encourage, rather than discourage, the use of overtime. Thus, a premium based on bonus is required for each overtime hour during the period in order to comply with public policy."

DLSE Manual at 49.2.4.2 (Emphasis added).

Applied to the above hypothetical, if the employee worked 16 overtime hours in a two week period when she was paid \$15.22 per hour, and \$30 in

weekend attendance bonuses each of the two weeks (\$60 total from above hypothetical), under the DLSE formula, she would earn \$383.28 in overtime pay, \$13 more than the Dart formula.

(\$15.22 per hour x 1.5 x 16 hours=\$365.28 in hourly overtime pay, plus \$18 in overtime pay based on bonus overtime calculated as follows: \$60 divided by 80 regular non-overtime hours during the two week pay period = \$.75 regular rate per hour earned in bonus x 1.5 premium rate for overtime = \$1.125 x 16 hours= \$18.).

2. PROCEEDINGS IN THE TRIAL COURT

Plaintiff-Petitioner Hector Alvarado brought this wage and hour class action and PAGA representative action against Defendant-Respondent Dart on August 2, 2012. The complaint, for damages, penalties, and restitution, alleges that Defendant had not properly computed bonus overtime under California law. Plaintiff's complaint, as amended, alleges the following causes of actions: (1) Failure to pay proper overtime in violation of Labor Code sections 510 and 1194 by not including shift differential premiums and bonuses in calculating overtime wages; (2) Failure to provide complete and accurate wage statements, in violation of Labor Code section 226; (3) Failure to timely pay all earned wages due at separation of employment, in violation of Labor Code sections 201, 202, and 203; (4) Unfair Business Practices, in violation of Business and Professions Code section 17200 et seq.; and (5) civil penalties under the

Private Attorneys' General Act of 2004, Labor Code section 2698 et seq. (PAGA). (Slip Op. 3-4)

Defendant filed a motion for summary judgment or, alternatively, for summary adjudication. Defendant argued that defendant's formula for calculating overtime when there was a flat amount element of wages, was lawful, and there was no legal basis for plaintiff's proposed alternative formula. (Slip. Op. 4).

On April 30, 2014, the trial court granted Dart's Motion for Summary Judgment. Judgment was entered thereafter, and on June 3, 2014 the Notice of Entry of Judgment was filed. (Appx.143,159)

3. PROCEEDINGS ON APPEAL

Alvarado filed a timely appeal from the Judgment on July 31, 2014 (Appx.165). On January 14, 2016, the Court of Appeal upheld the judgment of the trial court in a published decision, expressly finding:

"In the absence of a formula for computing bonus overtime founded on binding state law, there is no law or regulation the trial court or this court can construe or enforce as a method for computing overtime (sic) plaintiff's bonuses, other than the applicable federal regulation, CFR section 778.209(a). This is not a situation in which state and federal labor laws substantially differ and therefore reliance on federal law is misplaced. (Skyline, supra, 165 Cal.App.4th at pp.247-249, Ramirez, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 798) Defendant therefore lawfully used the federal formula for

computing overtime on plaintiff's flat sum bonuses. In turn, the trial court properly granted defendant's motion for summary judgment." (Slip Op. 25)

IV. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

- "'[P]ast decisions ... teach that in light of the remedial nature of the legislative enactments authorizing the regulation of wages, hours and working conditions for the protection and benefit of employees, the statutory provisions are to be liberally construed with an eye to promoting such protection.' *Industrial Welfare Com. v. Superior Court* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 690, 702" *Ramirez v. Yosemite Water* (1999) 20 Cal. 4th 785,794.
 - 1. California has championed the 8 hour day and 40 hour workweek for over 100 years. Nearly 60 years of authority establishes that in adopting premium pay requirements for workdays over eight hours, and workweeks over forty hours, the Industrial Welfare Commission intended to provide for the health and welfare of California workers by penalizing employers with premium pay requirements.
 - 2. Skyline, supra, 165 Cal.App.4th 239 definitively rejected, as inapplicable under California law, the Federal overtime pay practice of calculating overtime pay on fixed amounts of wages by dividing the fixed amounts by total hours worked, including overtime hours, because the Federal "fluctuating workweek" methodology rewards, rather than penalizes employers for working their employees increasing amounts overtime hours.

- 3. Subsequent to the *Skyline* decision, the IWC continued to enact
 Wage Orders with the same "regular rate" language, not altering the
 language in light of *Skyline*'s definitive interpretation of regular rate
 as applied to fixed amounts, and rejection of Federal law. Several
 Court of Appeal decisions subsequent to *Skyline* have recognized its
 applicability to fixed wage contexts. This court, in "*Ramirez v. Yosemite Water, supra* 20 Cal. 4th at 795 acknowledged *Skyline*'s
 rejection of "fluctuating workweek" as an example of how
 California overtime law differs from federal law.
- 4. The similarities between the fixed amount wage practice at issue in *Skyline*, and the fixed amount wage practice at Dart compel application of the *Skyline* decision to the instant case.
- 5. The Court of Appeal analysis that the DLSE Manual position, and Appellant's position as to how overtime should be calculated on the flat sums at issue in this case, is not tethered to law or precedent, but just public policy, is incorrect. A proper reading of the DLSE Manual establishes that the Manual provisions at issue are supported by law and precedent expressly referenced in the Manual.
- 6. The Court of Appeal failed to assess the full spectrum of applicable

 Code of Federal Regulation ("CFR") provisions in its application of

 Federal law. Had it done so, it would have concluded that, given

 weekend work provisions in the CFR's, and provisions on what

truly constitutes a bonus, it would have recognized that its reliance on 29 CFR 788.209 was misplaced.

7. Absent reversal, employers will be licensed to turn California overtime law on its head by reducing hourly wages of employees to bare minimums, and paying the balance of the market rate for their non-overtime work with fixed bonuses.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE REQUIREMENTS OF CALIFORNIA OVERTIME LAW.

"The Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) 'is the state agency empowered to formulate regulations (known as wage orders) governing employment in the State of California.' [Citation.] " *Morillion v. Royal Packing Co.* (2000) 22 Cal. 4th 575, 581. For decades the IWC has enacted, revised and reenacted Wage Orders.

In 1999, after the IWC eliminated the 8 hour day from certain wage orders, the Legislature restored it almost immediately. In restoring it, the Legislature referenced the history of overtime law in California.

"THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. This act shall be known and may be cited as the "Eight-Hour-Day Restoration and Workplace Flexibility Act of 1999." SECTION 2. The Legislature hereby finds and declares all of the following:

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