### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AUG 3 0 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

14

**HECTOR ALVARADO** 

Plaintiff, Appellant, and Petitioner

VS.

#### DART CONTAINER CORPORATION OF CALIFORNIA

Defendant and Respondent

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District Case No. E061645 APPEAL From the Superior Court of Riverside County. Hon. Daniel A. Ottolia (Superior Court Case No. RIC1211797)

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

(Service on the Attorney General and District Attorney pursuant to Bus, & Prof. Code §§ 17209, 7536.5)

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

at 815; Slip Op., p. 18.) Accordingly, as found by the Court of Appeal here, this Court is not required to mandate compliance with the flat sum bonus formula provided in the DLSE Manual section 49.2.4.2. (See Slip Op., p. 22.) Section 49.2.4.2 is "a standard of general application interpreting the law the DLSE enforce[s],' and 'not merely a restatement of prior agency decisions or advice letters.'" (*Marin, supra*, 169 Cal.App.4th at 815.) Furthermore, section 1.1.6.1 of the DLSE Manual states that if the source of the interpretation is a statute, regulation, court decision, opinion letter, or "Administrative Decision" or "Precedent Decision" of the Labor Commissioner, that source will be identified in the DLSE Manual. (*Id.*) However, "[n]o such sources are mentioned in section 49.2.4.2. The only source cited for the flat sum bonus rule is 'public policy.' Accordingly, section 49.2.4.2 does not have the force of law." (*Id.*; Slip Op., p. 22.) In other words, it is the DLSE creating its own interpretation of the law based on what it believes public policy should be.

As found by the Court of Appeal, section 49.2.4.2 "not only has no precedential value, it carries very little, if any, persuasive value because the DLSE Manual section 49.2.4.2 does not cite any supporting legal authority. This lack of any citation to supporting binding California law is because there is none. There is no state law specifying a formula for overtime applied to bonuses, particularly flat sum bonuses." (Slip Op., p. 22 [emphasis added].) As it has not "been enacted as enforceable law," the Court of Appeal concluded that it could not "enforce it." (Slip Op., p. 23.) The Court of Appeal continued: "Furthermore, enacting the formula in the DLSE Manual section 49.2.4.2 as enforceable law falls within the domain of the Legislature and the IWC, not this court." (Id.) This part of the Court of Appeal decision is key. Alvarado and the DLSE are attempting to legislate through this Supreme Court. This is wholly improper. Enacting legislation is in the province of the California State Legislature, not the

courts. There is clearly a void in California law here, and that void can only be filled by the Legislature enacting new laws, not the courts stretching unsupported public policy across the gap, especially when federal law perfectly fills the void.

# 1. Violation Of Such Policy Cannot Lead To Liability In The Absence Of A Statutory Touchstone, Which Is The Case Here

The DLSE is not authorized to base a rule on public policy where, as here, there is no constitutional or statutory or regulatory provision to which the purported public policy is tied.

In fact, courts do not have the authority to implicitly enact prohibitions that the legislature has failed to enact explicitly. For example, in Carter v. Escondido Union High Sch. Dist. (2007) 148 Cal. App. 4th 922, 925, the court held that for an employer to be liable for wrongful termination of public policy, the employer's conduct must violate a policy that is "fundamental," "well-established," and "carefully tethered" to a constitutional or statutory provision. The court held that the public policy upon which liability was premised, characterized as "the policy against teachers recommending weight-gaining substances to students," failed to satisfy these requirements. Although there may be sound policy reasons to bar this practice, there is no law that does so, and "any such prohibition must be enacted explicitly by the Legislature, not implicitly by the courts." As the practice was neither prohibited by law nor in contravention of wellestablished public policy, there was no basis for liability. (Id. at 925-926; see also Gantt v. Sentry Ins. (1992) 1 Cal.4th 1083, 1095 ["A public policy exception carefully tethered to fundamental policies that are delineated in constitutional or statutory provisions strikes the proper balance among the interests of employers, employees and the public."].)

While California law mandates that employees are entitled to "no

less than one and one-half times the regular rate of pay" for work in excess of eight hours in one workday (Lab. Code, § 510(a); 8 C.C.R., § 11070), there is no California constitutional, statutory or regulatory provision outlining any particular method for paying bonus overtime. (Marin, supra, 169 Cal.App.4th at 815-816.) Furthermore, the general overtime provisions in the Labor Code and Code of Regulations in no way support Alvarado's "rules" on bonus overtime. There is clearly a void in the law, and Alvarado advocates filling in that void with a self-serving policy that has no basis in any legislative enactment or constitutional provision. Alvarado fails to understand that where California law is silent, the courts, and by extension non-rulemaking administrative agencies such as the DLSE, are not empowered to declare public policy. (See Jennings v. Marralle (1994) 8 Cal.4th 121, 134-36 [even though a public policy against age discrimination appears in various former statutes and in the Fair Employment and Housing Act, there still could be no common-law claim for wrongful discharge of an employee in violation of a public policy based on age discrimination, where the employer, employing fewer than five employees, was expressly exempted from the FEHA's ban on age discrimination].)

### 2. Imposing Liability Premised Solely On Public Policy And Not On Violation Of Any Applicable Law Or Regulation Violates Dart's Due Process Rights

Alvarado's proposed public policy and the means by which he seeks to impose it against Dart and collect substantial penalties violates Dart's due process rights.

The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly held that vagueness in a criminal statute violates due process if it "fail[s] to provide the kind of notice that will enable ordinary people to understand what conduct it prohibits." (*City of Chicago v. Morales* (1999) 527 U.S. 41, 56; *see also Hill v. Colorado* (2000) 530 U.S. 703, 732. "[B]ecause we assume that

man is free to steer between lawful and unlawful conduct, we insist that laws give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, so that he may act accordingly." (*Grayned v. City of Rockford* (1972) 408 U.S. 104, 108; see also Morales, supra, 527 U.S. at 56 [fair notice principle serves the purpose of "provid[ing] the kind of notice that will enable ordinary people to understand what conduct [a law]prohibits"].) Punishment therefore may not be predicated on a "statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application." (*United States v. Lanier* (1997) 520 U.S. 259, 266.)

The United States Supreme Court never limited the vagueness doctrine to criminal penalties; on the contrary, it has consistently applied the doctrine to civil statutes that are punitive in nature. (See e.g., Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside (1982) 455 U.S. 489, 499 [employing strict] vagueness scrutiny for statute that imposed quasi-criminal penalties]; Giaccio v. Pennsylvania (1966) 382 U.S. 399, 402 ["[T]his state Act whether labeled 'penal' or not must meet the challenge that it is unconstitutionally vague"]; Champlin Ref. Co. v. Corp. Comm'n (1932) 286 U.S. 210, 241 [holding penalty statute unconstitutionally vague where it was designed not to remedy a violation but "to inflict punishment."]; A.B. Small Co. v. American Sugar Ref. Co. (1925) 267 U.S. 233 [holding statute unconstitutionally vague in civil case]; Sw. Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Danaher (1915) 238 U.S. 482 [\$6,300 civil penalty violated due process]. Nor is the doctrine limited to statutory civil punishments. Indeed, with specific reference to punitive damages, the United States Supreme Court observed that "[e]lementary notions of fairness enshrined in our constitutional jurisprudence dictate that a person receive fair notice . . . of the conduct that will subject him to punishment." (State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v.

Campbell (2003) 538 U.S. 408, 417 [quoting BMW of N. Am. v. Gore (1996) 517 U.S. 559, 574].)

Alvarado proposes to require Dart to comply with an obscure and alleged public policy that is indisputably not grounded in any California law, regulation or constitutional provision. As Alvarado's policy goals have no statutory touchstone, Dart never had a reasonable opportunity to know that its conduct was prohibited. This extends beyond an impermissibly vague statute leading to liability, this is an imposition of liability in the complete absence of any statute at all, forcing Dart to not merely "guess at [a statute's] meaning," but rather read Alvarado's mind to discover a purported public policy and then guess at that policy's meaning. (See *Lanier*, *supra*, 520 U.S. at 266.)

## 3. Dart's Formula Does Not Encourage The Imposition Of Overtime

Alvarado's public policy-based argument that Dart's formula encourages the imposition of overtime has no basis in law (as shown above) and has no basis in fact. Here, Dart's formula does not encourage imposition of overtime. In fact, Dart's formula discourages overtime because it helps ensure that employees work their regularly scheduled shifts such that there is no need for other employees to work overtime to cover the absent employee's shift. Alvarado fails to even acknowledge this fact. Additionally, by merely offering the Attendance Bonus, Dart has in fact discouraged the imposition of overtime because overtime hours worked by those employees eligible for and receiving and Attendance Bonus are always more expensive than had the Attendance Bonus not been offered.

Finally, Dart's formula would at most affect how overtime is allocated among the employees. As to employees who are regularly scheduled to work weekend shifts, Dart pays overtime based on the hourly wage as well as the Attendance Bonus. As to employees who are *not* 

regularly scheduled to work weekend shifts, Dart pays overtime based on the hourly wage alone, not the Attendance Bonus, because these employees are not entitled to the Attendance Bonus. The formula therefore at most encourages the shifting of overtime on those who are not regularly scheduled to work weekend days because those overtime hours cost Dart less money. When paying these lower overtime rates for employees who are not entitled to an Attendance Bonus, there is no alleged "diluted" regular rate of pay because the rate of pay, without additional payments such as bonuses, remains the same regardless of the number of overtime hours worked. And that rate of pay is always less than the rate of pay involved when a bonus is earned.<sup>5</sup>

This concept is rooted in case law. Specifically, in *Marin* the court noted that the employer's plan also did not encourage the imposition of overtime but rather impacted the allocation of overtime to those who were not eligible for the bonus. (*Marin*, *supra*, 169 Cal.App.4th at 818-819.)

# C. The Trial Court And Court Of Appeal Correctly Found That Alvarado's Formula Is Not Supported By Any Controlling California Authority

In addition to unsupported public policy, Alvarado relies on dicta from inapplicable cases to support his bonus formula and attempt to impose liability on Dart. The problem is that the authorities Alvarado relies on never address the calculation of overtime on a bonus, and are therefore inapplicable to this case. None of Alvarado's attempts at finding a law to support his policy goals succeed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Lawsuits such as this, predicated on an employer's choice to offer a bonus to employees as a reward, is what actually encourages the imposition of overtime because it encourages the elimination of such incentive payments and prevents the regular rate from ever increasing beyond the minimum hourly wages, making overtime cheaper overall.

#### 1. As Found By The Trial Court And Court Of Appeal, Skyline Is Not Controlling And Does Not Render Dart's Formula Unlawful

Alvarado's argument hinges on *Skyline* and its rejection of the "fluctuating workweek methodology." Such reliance is in error as *Skyline* is neither controlling nor applicable as it was confined to salaried employees working a fluctuating workweek, did not address bonuses, and concerned an employer who failed to pay overtime for work exceeding eight hours in a day. (See *Marin*, *supra*, 169 Cal.App.4th at 810-811.) The Court of Appeal similarly found *Skyline* inapplicable. (Slip Op., p. 15.)

Specifically, in *Skyline*, the employees worked a fluctuating workweek wherein they were paid a fixed minimum salary even though they worked varying hours per week. (*Skyline*, *supra*, 165 Cal.App.3d at 243-244.) The employees were also paid overtime for all work performed over 40 hours in any given workweek, but not for work performed over eight in a workday. (*Id*.) The issue was whether the employer used the correct method in calculating such overtime. (*Id*.)

Central to the *Skyline* decision was the fact that there was stark difference between governing federal and California law with respect to fluctuating workweeks. (*Id.* at 247-248.) Pursuant to the FLSA, overtime is owed whenever an employee works over 40 hours in a workweek. (*Id.*, citing 29 U.S.C., § 207(a)(1).) Conversely, the then-applicable California wage order required overtime whenever an employee worked over 40 hours in a workweek or over eight hours in a work day. (*Id.* citing former Admin. Code, Title 8, § 11180 [Labor Code section 510 had yet to be enacted].) The court illustrated the benefit of using the wage order's method with reference to an employee with a weekly salary of \$350 who worked 12 hours Monday, eight hours Tuesday, nine hours Wednesday, and 10 hours Friday, for a total of 39 hours for the week. Under the employer's formula

the employee was entitled to no overtime compensation because he or she "failed to exceed 40 hours in the week." (*Skyline*, *supra*, 165 Cal.App.3d at 248.) But under the wage order, the employee, who had worked overtime pursuant to California's standard of over eight hours in a workday, was entitled to overtime compensation for seven hours at "time and one-half." (*Id.* at 249.)

The *Skyline* court noted that, "[u]nless the insertion of the limitation with respect to the eight-hour day is to be rendered meaningless, we must assume that the IWC intended to impose a different standard for determining overtime than that allowed under the FLSA. If, as seems obvious, the IWC intended to employ an eight-hour day standard and to discourage the use of longer work days, the fluctuating workweek would not effectuate this purpose." (*Id.* at 248.) The *Skyline* court concluded California law's eight-hour day limitation was incompatible with the federal law's fluctuating workweek method of calculating the regular pay rate and overtime, which relies solely on the 40-hour workweek, without taking into account an eight-hour day limitation. (*Id.* at 248, 255.)

Here, Dart does not employ the fluctuating workweek methodology because it pays its employees overtime for hours worked in excess of 40 in a week and eight in a day. In fact, Alvarado has never alleged that Dart failed to pay overtime for hours worked in excess of eight in a day. Skyline also does not identify any California court decision, statute or regulation that shows Dart's formula for calculating bonuses is unlawful. Indeed, it did not mention, much less analyze, overtime due on bonuses. It also does not dispute that in the absence of California law or regulation to the contrary, federal law should be followed. (See Skyline, supra, 165 Cal.App.3d at 246-247.) Furthermore, Dart's formula does not conflict with the bedrock of principle of Skyline, namely that California employees are entitled to overtime for work in excess of eight hours in a day and 40

hours in a week.

# a. Skyline's Decision Was Based On A Directly Applicable California Law; Here Alvarado Has No Statutory Touchstone

Additionally, *Skyline* is distinguishable from this case in one key respect. The *Skyline* court reached its decision in reliance on the express terms of the applicable wage order, which were directly applicable and dispositive to the case. Here, Alvarado's formula is not predicated on *any* statutory touchstone that is at odds with Dart's formula. Unlike *Skyline*, there is no conflict of California and federal law here because there is no California law on point.

#### b. The Skyline Court Admitted It Did Not Apply To Hourly Employees, Which Alvarado Concedes He Was

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